I. INTRODUCTION 

The Court of Appeals here misapplied the gross negligence 

standard adopted by the legislature after this Court's decision in Hertog v. 

City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 278-81, 979 P.2d 400 (1999). In doing so, 

the Court of Appeals improperly focused on actions a Seattle Municipal 

Court ("SMC") probation officer could have taken, as opposed to the 

actions the officer actually took pursuant to court-established probation 

supervision policies. This error and the resulting expansion of probation 

officers' duties conflicts with established case authority, raises issues of 

substantial public interest, and warrants review by this Court. 

Hertog applied a negligence standard for liability of limited 

jurisdiction courts' supervision of misdemeanant probationers, but invited 

legislative clarification of that standard. 1 In response, the legislature 

enacted RCW 4.24.760 and imposed liability only for gross negligence. 

Also following Hertog, the Administrative Office of the Courts ("AOC") 

adopted Administrative Rule for Courts of Limited Jurisdiction ("ARLJ") 

11. ARLJ 11 permits limited jurisdiction courts to adopt misdemeanor 

probation departments and to establish the means and methods by which 

probation services are provided. 

1 Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 278-81. In so holding, this Court cited its prior decision in 
Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 822 P.2d 243 (1992), which held that the state may be 
liable for the negligence of a parole officer in supervising a parolee. 
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Following the adoption of ARLJ 11 and RCW 4.24.760, SMC 

voluntarily determined to continue its probation program and refined its 

policies and procedures defining the scope of supervisory services 

expected of its probation officers. Although the probation officer involved 

in this case exceeded SMC's supervision requirements, and despite the 

lack of substantial evidence of serious negligence, the Court of Appeals 

held that Plaintiffs had established an issue of fact on gross negligence. 

The Court thus (1) undermined the legislature's and AOC's actions and 

expanded the duty owed by limited jurisdiction courts and their officers in 

a manner rejected by previous Courts of Appeals and (2) applied a lower 

standard for defeating summary judgment in a gross negligence case than 

had been previously applied by this Court. Accordingly, the opinion on 

review here is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of 

Appeals, rendering review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2). 

Further, review is warranted under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) because this 

case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court. After careful consideration and balancing of the 

benefits and liabilities inherent in the provision of probation services by 

limited jurisdiction courts pursuant to ARLJ 11, the legislature acted to 

encourage such courts to offer probation services by making them liable 

only for gross negligence. The Court of Appeals decision here eviscerates 
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this important limitation and re-imposes significant liability on SMC. In 

doing so, the Court of Appeals creates a disincentive for municipal 

governments to provide voluntary probation services. And the decision 

also implicates state and county probation systems, which are subject to 

the same gross negligence standard. The Court of Appeals' decision will 

thus broadly affect multiple governments. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is the City of Seattle, defendant in the trial court and 

appellant in the Court of Appeals. The City of Seattle is a municipal 

government consisting of executive, legislative, and judicial branches. 

SMC is the judicial branch of the Seattle City government. 

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision in Schulte et 

al. v. Mullan & City of Seattle, No. 72821-1-I, on July 18, 2016 

("Decision"). A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix A. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. This Court and the Court of Appeals have held that there can be no issue 

of gross negligence unless there is substantial evidence of serious 

negligence. Should the Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2) 

where the Court of Appeals decision here concluded that ordinary 

negligence was sufficient to send the issue of gross negligence to the jury? 

3 



2. Post-Hertog Court of Appeals decisions defined probation officers' duties 

by the statutory or administrative obligations governing such officers' 

responsibilities. Should the Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) 

where the Court of Appeals decision here expands that duty beyond 

specified obligations and directly conflicts with those decisions? 

3. The legislature has expressed its intent to encourage limited jurisdiction 

courts to voluntarily establish misdemeanor probation departments by 

adopting a gross negligence standard for liability. Should this Court grant 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the Court of Appeals decision here 

undermines the legislature's intent and creates a disincentive for cities, 

counties, and the state to provide misdemeanor probation services? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. SMC's voluntary misdemeanor probation department. 

Misdemeanor probation departments are established solely at the 

discretion of individual courts under ARLJ 11. ARLJ 11.1 specifies that 

"if a court elects to establish" such a department, "(t]he method of 

providing [misdemeanor probation services] shall be established by the 

presiding judge ofthe local court to meet the specific needs ofthe court."2 

Misdemeanor probation departments provide services including offender 

2 RCW 10.64.120 authorizes ARLJ 11. Several other statutes also recognize the ability 
of limited jurisdiction courts to establish voluntary probation departments. See RCW 
4.24.750; RCW 4.24.760; RCW 35.20.255. 
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risk assessment and classification, evaluation and referral to treatment, and 

supervision of offenders based on their risk classification. ARLJ 11.2(b ). 

SMC chose to retain its voluntarily adopted misdemeanor 

probation department following the AOC's adoption of ARLJ 11 in 2001. 

SMC has established policies and procedures that govern the intake, risk 

assessment, and supervision of misdemeanants. CP 240. SMC's 

probation policies establish four levels of and define required probation 

officer responsibilities for supervision for misdemeanants. CP 246-47, 

262-66. SMC's probation program assists judges in decision-making with 

respect to particular offenders and connects offenders to services and 

programs that afford opportunities for rehabilitation. CP 241, 244. 

In 2007, the legislature enacted legislation that specifically 

recognized the public benefit of courts offering probation services: 

The legislature finds that the provision of preconviction and 
postconviction misdemeanor probation and supervision services, 
and the monitoring of persons charged with or convicted of 
misdemeanors to ensure their compliance with preconviction or 
postconviction orders of the court, are essential to improving the 
safety of the public in general. 

RCW 4.24.750. The legislature further provided that limited jurisdiction 

courts are liable only for gross negligence in the supervision of 

misdemeanant probationers. See RCW 4.24.760(1). 
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B. Mullan's history of DUI and assignment to probation. 

In January 2013, Mark Mullan was sentenced to SMC probation 

for a December 25,2012 DUI arrest and guilty plea. CP 307,310-13, 

315-17. As conditions of his probation, Mullan was required to not drive 

without a valid license, to comply with mandatory ignition interlock 

device requirements in the event he obtained a license and drove his 

vehicle, and to refrain from drinking alcohol, among other things. CP 

315-16. At the time he was sentenced to probation, Mullan also had a 

separate pending DUI charge in Snohomish County. CP 248. 

SMC's risk assessment tool assigned Mullan to Level III 

supervision. CP 247-48. Under SMC policy, probation officers are not 

required to monitor Level III offenders through face-to-face visits; rather, 

their duties are limited to (1) reviewing the offender's compliance with 

court conditions every 90 days, (2) reviewing the District and Municipal 

Court Information System and SMC violator history every six months, and 

(3) following up "as appropriate on new information that requires action." 

CP 247-48, 266 (MCS-210-3.06.020(1V)(B)(1), (B)(2), (D)). 

Mullan's probation intake appointment occurred on January 8, 

2013. CP 245. Because Mullan's probation officer, Stacey Lamond, 

knew of his pending Snohomish County DUI, and because Lamond had no 

prior behavioral history to rely on, Lamond opted to supervise him at a 
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higher level than SMC policies required. Thus, although not required, 

Lamond directed Mullan to report for a face-to-face meeting on February 

22, 2013--45 days after intake and 45 days prior to SMC's first required 

supervisory actions. CP 248. On February 21, SMC received a letter from 

Mullan's alcohol treatment program indicating that he was current with his 

treatment. CP 298-99. At the February 22 meeting, Mullan told Lamond 

that treatment was going well, that he was working, and that he was not 

driving. CP 145-48, 150, 160-61, 164-65, 248. At that time Lamond had 

no indication that Mullan was violating his probation conditions. 

Lamond's next scheduled action was on April 8, 2013 (90 days after 

intake), when she was required by policy to review Mullan's compliance 

with his probation conditions. CP 248. 

C. Plaintiffs file a lawsuit after a March 2013 DUI crash. 

On March 25, 2013, Mullan, while drunk, drove his vehicle into 

Karina and Elias Ulriksen-Schulte and Elias's grandparents, Dennis and 

Judith Schulte. CP 5. The Ulriksen-Schultes were severely injured and 

the Schultes were killed. Only after the crash did SMC learn of 

allegations that Mullan had been drinking and driving his vehicle while on 

probation. SMC also learned only after the crash that Mullan had been in 

custody January 14 through February 8, 2013, for arriving intoxicated at a 

hearing in his Snohomish County DUI charge. CP 153-54, 165, 171. 
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Plaintiffs filed a Complaint in October 2013, alleging that the 

City's negligent failure to monitor, supervise, and sanction Mullan for 

violations of his probation proximately caused the March 25, 2013 

collision. CP 1-14. The City moved for summary judgment on grounds 

that insufficient evidence supported a finding that any act or omission by 

the City constituted gross negligence or proximately caused the damages 

sustained. CP 24-58. The trial court denied the City's motion. Record of 

Proceedings (Oct. 31, 2014) at 112-13; CP 3532-37. 

D. The Court of Appeals' Decision. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed. The Court determined that 

Plaintiffs met their burden to oppose summary judgment merely upon a 

showing of potential negligence. Specifically, the Court held that 

"[b ]ecause a jury could find that the probation officer breached her duty 

by failing to track the Snohomish County case and contact collateral 

sources", the standard for negligence, "a jury could also find that the 

breach was a failure to use even slight care", the standard for gross 

negligence. Decision at 8. The Court also held expert testimony that 

faulted the probation officer for failure to take actions beyond those 

required by SMC policy raised an issue of fact on gross negligence.3 

3 The Court did so without reaching the evidentiary standards required under CR 56( e) or 
the City's motion to strike these expert conclusions. 
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VI. ARGUMENT 

A. The Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and the 
Court of Appeals applying a gross negligence standard. 

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' holding, a plaintiff cannot 

survive summary judgment on gross negligence by presenting evidence of 

potential negligence. Rather, other courts have made clear that the 

nonmoving party must show substantial evidence of serious negligence. 

In Nist v. Tudor, 67 Wn.2d 322, 407 P.2d 798 (1965), this Court 

exhaustively analyzed the meaning of "gross negligence" in addressing 

whether a trial court properly ruled that defendants' actions did not 

constitute gross negligence. The Court explained that gross negligence is 

[A] form of negligence on a larger scale .... It means, 
therefore, gross or great negligence, that is, negligence 
substantially and appreciably greater than ordinary 
negligence. Its correlative, failure to exercise slight care, 
means not the total absence of care but care substantially or 
appreciably less than the quantum of care inhering in 
ordinary negligence. 

ld. at 331. Consequently, the Court noted "there can be no issue of gross 

negligence unless there is substantial evidence of serious negligence." ld. 

at 332. In determining the sufficiency of the evidence presented in Nist, 

this Court emphasized that the driver had turned into the path of an 

oncoming truck after failing to slow down, signal, or even look. Jd. Thus, 

"a jury could well infer that she acted in the exercise of so small a degree 
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of care under the circumstances as to be substantially and appreciably 

more negligent than ordinary, and hence could be held guilty of gross or 

great negligence." !d. 

Consistent with Nist, multiple Court of Appeals decisions have 

concluded that evidence of ordinary negligence is not evidence of gross 

negligence and that to survive summary judgment, the plaintiff "must 

offer something more substantial than mere argument that the defendant's 

breach of care arises to the level of gross negligence." Johnson v. 

Spokane to Sandpoint, LLC, 176 Wn. App. 453, 460, 309 P.3d 528 (2013); 

see also Boyce v. West, 71 Wn. App. 657, 665-66, 862 P.2d 592 (1993). 

Indeed, two Court of Appeals cases have reached the above 

conclusion affirming summary judgment where the plaintiff alleged 

negligent probation supervision. In Kelley v. State, 104 Wn. App. 328, 

330-32, 17 P.3d 1189 (2000), Court of Appeals Division Two addressed 

the plaintiffs claim (dismissed on summary judgment) that the state 

Department of Corrections ("DOC") negligently supervised an offender 

who assaulted her while on probation. The plaintiff presented evidence 

that the probation officer failed to comply with statutes and DOC rules 

that required the officer to monitor and enforce the offender's curfew, 

investigate the offender's encounters with police, and make required field 

contacts with the offender. !d. at 332-34. The Court agreed with the 

10 



plaintiffthat a jury could possibly find negligence from the evidence 

presented, but held that this was "not 'substantial evidence of serious 

negligence' and, thus, fell short of showing gross negligence." Id. at 338 

(citing Nist, 67 Wn.2d at 332). 

Similarly, in Whitehall v. King Cnty., 140 Wn. App. 761, 763, 167 

P.3d 1184 (2007), Court of Appeals Division One affirmed summary 

judgment dismissal of a claim that King County's negligent supervision of 

a misdemeanant probationer led to serious injuries. The plaintiff argued 

the County was negligent in failing to monitor the offender more closely, 

among other things. !d. at 769-70. The Court, following Kelley, held that 

even ifthe County had such a duty, "there [was] no substantial evidence of 

serious negligence, and thus no showing of gross negligence." Id. at 770. 

These decisions applied a common sense rule: plaintiffs must meet 

a higher burden to survive a summary judgment motion with respect to 

gross negligence than would be required under an ordinary negligence 

standard. See also Johnson, 176 Wn. App. at 461 (where standard of 

proof is gross negligence, nonmoving party on summary judgment must 

show it can support its claim under the higher standard). The decisions 

further indicate that the gross negligence analysis properly focuses on 

what the probation officer actually did over the course of supervision 
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given the circumstances presented-not on what additional steps the 

officer could have taken. See Whitehall, 140 Wn. App. at 768-69. 

The Court of Appeals' Decision ignores this heightened burden 

and conflicts with the well-established rule. First, the Court concluded 

that evidence of ordinary negligence was enough to send the issue of gross