INTRODUCTION 

Respondents Schulte ask this Court to deny discretionary 

review of the Unpublished Opinion (Becker, J.) refusing to intervene 

in a trial court ruling (Ramsdell, J.) denying the City of Seattle's 

motion for summary judgment. See Schulte v. City of Seattle, 

Washington State Court of Appeals No. 72821-1-1, at 12 (Unpub. Op. 

July 18, 2016) ("we conclude intervention by this court is not 

warranted"). Numerous genuine issues of material fact precluded 

summary judgment here. See, e.g., Unpub. Op. at 5, 8, 10. 

The Schultes lost two grandparents and suffered serious 

injuries to mother and child at the hands of a multiple DUI offender 

on probation. The City's alleged probation "supervision" was grossly 

inadequate. The surviving family members simply want a jury trial. 

Judges Ramsdell and Becker, et al., thought that they should have 

one. Intervention by this Court is unwarranted. 

A retired Municipal Court Judge also opined in this case that 

the City's willful failure to supervise this dangerously alcoholic 

offender was gross negligence - at best. The City's claim that its 

administrative rules render this Court's Taggart!Hertog line of cases 

ineffective is not even colorable. This Court should deny review and 

allow this family to seek the justice they deserve now. 
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RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES 

1. Do Taggart, 1 Hertog,2 and their progeny, impose a "take 

charge" duty on the City of Seattle to supervise and control known 

dangerous drunk drivers, where a Seattle Municipal Court Judgment 

and Sentence expressly requires such supervision and control? 

2. Is summary judgment improper, where three experts -

including a retired Municipal Court Judge- opined that the City fell 

woefully below the standard of care, failing to exercise even slight 

care to supervise a known dangerous drunk driver, proximately 

causing two deaths and other serious injuries? 

3. Are those experts' opinions soundly based on substantial 

evidence of serious negligence, where the City admits that it failed 

to supervise its parolee in any way regarding the sentencing 

conditions that the offender not drink, not drive drunk, and not drive 

without valid insurance, a valid ignition interlock license, and an 

ignition interlock device on his truck, and where all of the evidence in 

the record supports the City's admissions? 

1 Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 822 P.2d 243 (1992). 
2 Hertog v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999). 
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4. In the face of such evidence, do this Court's decisions in Nisfl 

and Roberts4 forbid granting summary judgment, where Nist said 

gross negligence goes to the jury, and Roberts struck down the line 

of cases keeping gross negligence from the jury? 

5. Can an administrative court rule strike down all of the above 

legal authority, particularly where ARLJ 11 does not purport to strike 

down any Supreme Court precedents, but rather specifies the "core 

services" that the City's probation officers are required to provide in 

order to protect public safety by supervising and controlling 

offenders, protections that the City utterly failed to provide? 

6. Where, as here, three experts opined (based on the above 

noted substantial evidence of serious negligence) that the City 

proximately caused the two deaths and other injuries to the Schulte 

family, is proximate cause for the jury? 

3 Nist v. Tudor, 67 Wn.2d 322, 407 P.2d 798 (1965). 
4 Roberts v. Johnson, 91 Wn.2d 182, 188, 588 P.2d 201 (1978). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The facts are accurately stated in the Unpublished Opinion. 

More details, with accurate record citations, are in the Brief of 

Respondent. The City's factual allegations, both here and in the 

Court of Appeals, are inaccurate and improperly stated most 

favorably to the City. This Court should take the facts in the light most 

favorable to the Schultes. See, e.g., CR 56; Unpub. Op. at 2-3. 

Nor does the City accurately restate the Unpublished Opinion. 

That opinion nowhere applies a negligence standard, contra Petition 

at (e.g.) 2, 8. Rather, the Court of Appeals held that, assuming 

without deciding that the City's [erroneous] assertions about the 

limited scope of its duty are correct, "a trial would still be necessary 

to determine whether the city breached its duty." Unpub. Op. at 4-5. 

This is true because genuine issues of material fact preclude 

summary judgment on (at least) whether the City's own regulations 

required it (a) to make collateral contacts, and (b) to track its 

parolee's pending Snohomish County DUI charge. 5 /d. 

5 The City's parolee showed up drunk for his Snohomish County DUI 
arraignment, and was arrested. See BR 4-5, 9-12 While his Seattle parole 
officer was well aware of his Snohomish DUI, she failed to track it. /d. 
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On gross negligence, Seattle's "probation officer was 

confronted with the arguably foreseeable hazard that [her parolee] 

would continue to drink and ... drive under the influence." Unpub. 

Op. at 8. This is key under Nist: gross negligence is a form of 

negligence, derived from the foreseeability of the hazards from which 

an injury arises; therefore, "the law must necessarily look to the 

hazards of the situation confronting the actor." /d. (citing Nist, 67 

Wn.2d at 331 ). "Following Nist, we conclude that the trial court did 

not err in allowing the issue of gross negligence to go to the jury." /d. 

The City briefly raises legal causation. 6 Petition at 19-20. The 

Court of Appeals correctly held that this Court foreclosed the City's 

argument in Hertog. Unpub. Op. at 11. It is remarkable that after 

nearly a quarter century of consistent, binding precedent establishing 

and reaffirming its "take charge" duty to protect the public from 

offenders under its supervision and control, the City is still attempting 

to undermine Taggart, and to avoid its responsibilities to its citizens 

under Hertog v. City of Seattle. 

6 The appellate court also addressed cause in fact, which the City had 
raised, citing Estate of Bardon v. Dept. of Corrections, 122 Wn. App. 
227, 95 P.3d 764 (2004). Unpub. Op. at 8-10. The City here abandons this 
argument, mentioning neither cause in fact nor Bardon. 
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ARGUMENT 

A. The unpublished opinion is consistent with this Court's 
precedents, like Taggart, Hertog, Joyce, Nist, and 
Roberts. 

The City first argues that the appellate decision is somehow 

in conflict with this Court's Nist, but that case supports the Schultes, 

as the Court of Appeals held. The City ignored Nist in its Brief of 

Appellant, even though it was key to the trial court's reasoning. And 

here, the City minimizes Joyce,7 which reaffirmed that gross 

negligence is for a jury, and ignores Roberts, which shows the fate 

of a gross negligence standard that obstructs access to a jury. The 

Schulte decision is consistent with this Court's precedents. 

Any discussion of this Court's relevant precedents in this area 

should begin with Taggart and Hertog, which the City minimizes and 

attempts to undermine. The supervisory relationship between parole 

officers and parolees creates a "take charge" relationship to control 

the parolee and protect anyone who might reasonably be 

endangered by the parolee's dangerous propensities. Taggart, 118 

Wn.2d at 219-224. This constitutes a "special relationship" under the 

7 Joyce v. State, 155 Wn.2d 306, 318, 119 P.3d 825 (2005). 
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RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS§ 315 (1965). /d. at 219. It gives 

rise to a duty to protect the public from foreseeable harms. /d. at 224. 

The judgment and sentence or other court order establish a "take 

charge" relationship between parole officer and parolee. Joyce v. 

State, 155 Wn.2d at 318; Bishop v. Miche, 137 Wn.2d 518, 526, 

973 P.2d 465 (1999); Bordon, 122 Wn. App. at 236; see also, 

Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 277 n.3. 

Our Supreme Court has directly imposed upon the City of 

Seattle and its probation counselors this duty to control municipal 

court probationers in order to protect others from reasonably 

foreseeable harms resulting from probationers' dangerous 

propensities. Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 281. There, an offender on 

Seattle Municipal Court probation supervision for lewd conduct raped 

a child. /d. at 268. Finding a duty, the Court rejected the City's 

repeated attempts to evade Taggart (which continue here): 

The City maintains that Taggart and Savage were wrongly 
decided and should be overruled because parole officers do 
not have any real control over the day to day lives and actions 
of parolees. However, this same argument was carefully 
considered and rejected in Taggart. Further, our decision in 
Taggart expressly stated that the Legislature could limit or 
eliminate the duty recognized there by passing legislation 
granting further immunity. Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 224 .... 
The Legislature has not enacted such legislation. 
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Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 278 (some cites omitted). The Legislature still 

has not enacted such legislation. 

The City nonetheless continues its decades-long effort to 

evade Taggart, albeit in the guise of arguing that the Legislature's 

adoption of a "gross negligence" standard removes its Hertog duty 

to supervise probationers. But once a special relationship exists, the 

City owes a duty of care and may be liable when damages result. 

Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 310. It is for the jury to decide whether the injury 

was reasonably foreseeable, even under a gross-negligence regime. 

Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 316-17; Nist, 67 Wn.2d at 332. This Court 

should not permit the City to evade its Hertog duties.8 

Nist concerned the host-guest statute, since repealed, which 

adopted the common-law gross-negligence standard. 67 Wn.2d at 

324-25. The "host" driver turned left in front of an oncoming truck, 

injuring her passenger, who sued, but had her case dismissed on a 

8 This Court very recently reaffirmed the above analysis in Binschus v. 
Skagit Cty., Washington State Supreme Court No. 91655-6 (Sept. 22, 
2016). While the Court (5-4) declined to expand Taggart to impose liability 
upon a jail that had lost control of the offender months before he 
reoffended, it nonetheless reemphasized that "failure to adequately 
supervise the probationer,' may result in liability" and that the duty to 
supervise and control the probationer extends "to anyone who might 
foreseeably suffer bodily harm resulting from the failure to controf' the 
probationer. Binschus, Slip Op. at 8 & n. 2 (quoting Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 
319) (emphases added in Binschus). Binschus is otherwise inapposite. 
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half-time motion. /d. at 324. The Court engaged in a lengthy 

discussion of the gross negligence standard, noting that after at least 

50 years, it has "universally escaped definition," every "qualifying 

word added to sharpen the phrase seems to obscure in about the 

same degree as it clarifies," and it "remains extremely difficult for the 

trial courts to apply in specific situations." /d. at 324-25. 

The Nist Court distinguished an older line of cases granting 

summary judgment where negligence might be clear, but gross 

negligence was not, from the newer line of cases holding that gross 

negligence is for the jury. /d. at 325-29. The newer cases involved 

driver errors like passing unsuccessfully, failing to negotiate turns, 

and running stop signs. /d. at 327-28. The Court noted that in many 

of these cases, the drivers displayed some element of reasonable 

care (e.g., signaling, slowing, driving in the proper lane for some 

period) but the courts nonetheless left the question of gross 

negligence to the jury. /d. at 328-29. 

Nist reaffirmed the proposition that gross negligence is the 

failure to exercise slight care under the circumstances, but added 

that it is not tantamount to the total absence of care, requiring only 

"substantial evidence of serious negligence." /d. at 330, 332. The 

inquiry thus does not focus on whether the tortfeasor exercised some 
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care as to actions that did not cause an injury, but rather focuses on 

the tortious behavior. /d. at 327-28. For example, it is for the jury to 

determine whether a person was grossly negligent in turning left in 

front of an oncoming truck, missing a turn, or running a stop sign, 

even where they slowed, signaled, or looked both ways. 

Although the City neither cited nor discussed Nist in its Brief 

of Appellant, it now mischaracterizes the Unpublished Opinion as 

focusing on what the probation officer might have done better, rather 

on what she utterly failed to do. This misreading is irrelevant. Nist 

says that the jury must decide gross negligence: the City's failure to 

supervise and control a known dangerous drunk driver is substantial 

evidence of serious negligence. Review is unwarranted. 

Indeed, the fate of using the "gross negligence" standard to 

prevent jury trials is exemplified in the demise of the host-guest line 

of cases: the Legislature ultimately repealed the statute, and this 

Court subsequently overruled the older line of cases mentioned 

above, in which the gross-negligence standard was misused to 

deprive injured victims of their day in court. Roberts, 91 Wn.2d at 

188. Roberts rejected that irrational, unjust, and unequal standard 

of liability. /d. at 186-88. Particularly notable here, it fails the test of 

consistency, where all citizens except auto guests were protected 
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from negligence, not just gross negligence. /d. at 186-87. The 

Schultes have a right to a jury trial, as Taggart, Hertog, Joyce, Nist 

and Roberts provide. The Court should deny review. 

B. Kelley and Whitehall are simply distinguishable. 

The City seems to argue that because other plaintiffs failed to 

present sufficient evidence in two cases that are factually nothing like 

this case, the trial court should have granted summary judgment 

here. This is incorrect. The appellate court properly distinguished 

Division Two's Kelley v. State, 104 Wn. App. 328, 17 P.3d 1189 

(2000), review granted, 144 Wn.2d 1021 (2001) (voluntary withdraw 

of review granted Jan. 10, 2002), and its decision following Kelley, 

Whitehall v. King Cty., 140 Wn. App. 761, 167 P.3d 1184 (2007). 

In Kelley, the plaintiff claimed that she was assaulted due to 

DOC's failure to supervise an offender under its supervisory control. 

104 Wn. App. at 329-31. That probation officer regularly met with the 

offender twice a month, made 14 out of 27 required field contacts, 

and did not fail to inquire about two suspicious incidents. Kelley, 104 

Wn. App. at 335-37. Thus, insufficient evidence of serious 

negligence required summary judgment on gross negligence. 

In Whitehall, the offender being supervised for third-degree 

theft regularly reported to his probation officer and did nothing wrong; 
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because he was a low-level offender, nothing further was required. 

140 Wn. App. at 763-64. He then unexpectedly placed an explosive 

on a trailer door, negligently injuring Whitehall. /d. at 764-65. As 

Judge Ramsdell noted, there was simply no relationship between the 

adequate County supervision and the unforeseeable hazard, and 

thus, no substantial evidence of serious negligence. RP 30. 

The appellate court correctly distinguished both Kelley and 

Whitehall. Unlike in those cases, here the probation officer did 

nothing to enforce- or even to confirm- the ordered ignition interlock 

and suspended license, or the no-drinking-or-driving conditions, 

including failing to make any inquiry regarding the known pending 

DUI in another county. Each of these violations is directly related to 

the conditions she had a duty to supervise in order to control her 

parolee. Kelley and Whitehall are simply nothing like this case. 

Interlocutory review of the summary judgment denial is unnecessary. 

C. The City's final argument has never been raised before, 
and it is incorrect in any event. 

The City's final argument (about "legislative intent") raises a 

new argument that the City did not raise in the trial court, or in its 

Brief of Appellant. Compare, e.g., BA 6 with Petition at 3-4. The City 

is not permitted to first raise new arguments in this Court. See, e.g., 
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Clam Shacks of Am., Inc. v. Skagit County, 109 Wn.2d 91, 98, 7 43 

P.2d 265 (1987) ("RAP 13.4(c)(5) requires a concise statement of 

the issues presented for review"; RAP 13.7(b) limits review to issues 

properly raised in the petition as directed in RAP 13.4(c)(5)). 

In any event, the argument is incorrect for several reasons. 

First, the appellate decision is unpublished, so it is not precedential 

and cannot "disrupt" any alleged "expectations" of those not party to 

this action. See GR 14.1. Second, it does notimpose any liability on 

the City: it merely permits the Schultes to go before a jury in the usual 

course, just as Nist, Taggart, Hertog, Joyce, and many other 

decisions require. Only a jury can impose liability here. 

Third, testimony supporting a bill is not relevant, as it is not a 

legislative finding, but mere rhetoric, presumably from government 

employees (perhaps even those defending this action?). Their self

interest - which apparently has nothing to do with protecting the 

public from offenders like this one - has no bearing on the legal 

issues the appellate court addressed. 

Fourth, as discussed in detail supra, the Unpublished Opinion 

nowhere purports to impose a mere negligence standard, and says 

nothing that would increase the burden of proof. The City apparently 

forgets that the burden is on the plaintiffs here. That burden is to 
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establish gross negligence by a preponderance of the evidence. The 

Unpublished Opinion acknowledges that burden, but does not even 

come close to changing it. 

Fifth, it is apparent that the City views Kelley and Whitehall 

as "get out of liability free" precedents. They never were, as the 

Unpublished Opinion makes clear. But even if they had been, an 

unpublished opinion cannot affect them. And as explained supra, 

they are easily distinguishable from this case. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' 

unpublished opinion refusing to intervene in the trial court's well 

reasoned and legally sound summary judgment denial. The Schultes 

have a right to bring their cause before a jury without further delay 

arising from this lengthy and unnecessary interlocutory appellate 

process. Discretionary review is unwarranted here.